FILED

MAR 2 1 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. 73615-9-1

94275.7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



Respondent,

v.

NASRO ABUBAKAR,

Appellant,

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

James. A. Jackson Attorney for Appellant WSBA #29836 Simburg Ketter Sheppard & Purdy, LLP 999 Third Ave., #2525 Seattle, WA 98104 206.382.2600

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Identification of Petition.

Petitioner, Nasro Abubakar, seeks Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals decision in Abdimalik Hassan v. Nasro Abubakar, Court of Appeals No. 73615-9-1, in which the Court of Appeals, Division I, upheld the Superior Court's Order modifying parenting plan and child support order after trial.

2. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner requests a Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals Decision of December 27, 2016.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Court of Appeals, Division 1 erred in upholding the Superior Court's decision to grant Respondent's petition to modify parenting plan and child support order?
- B. Whether the Court of Appeals Division 1 erred in holding that the record did not support Petitioner's argument that the Juvenile Court was relying on the modification for fact finding?
- C. Whether the Court of Appeals Division 1 erred in terminating its analysis of Petitioner's right to counsel argument, pursuant to RCW 13.34.090,

because the Juvenile Court's Order granting concurrent jurisdiction was not part of the record.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant and Respondent are Somali refugees who immigrated to the United States together in or about 2004. They were divorced on January 17, 2012. A parenting plan entered that day provided that their eight (8) children would reside primarily with Appellant while Respondent would have restricted visitation. This arrangement was triggered by allegations of domestic violence against Appellant.

On September 17, 2013, Respondent filed a Petition for Modification of the said Parenting Plan. The basis for modification was an allegation by one of the children that she was raped by Appellant's oldest son from a previous relationship. Respondent amended his petition on April 25, 2014 to add allegations of neglect stemming from an ongoing investigation by Child Protective Services (CPS). CPS subsequently removed the children from Appellant's household and temporarily placed them with Respondent.

Dependency petitions were filed with regard to each minor child under King County Cause Numbers 14-7-01099-9 SEA, 14-7-01095-6 SEA, 14-7-01096-4 SEA, 14-7-01097-2 SEA, 14-7-01100-6 SEA and 14-7-01101-

4 SEA. Appellant requested appointment of counsel, which was granted by the dependency court. Appellant was assisted by counsel throughout the dependency proceedings.

The dependency and modification proceedings continued simultaneously and parallel with each other. Although she had been assigned counsel in the dependency matters, she was unrepresented in the modification. The modification proceeding was scheduled to go to trial on February 23, 2015.

Upon information and belief, the Juvenile Court was aware of the trial date. The Juvenile Court "granted concurrent jurisdiction authorizing the family law custody matter to proceed, and ... continued the dependency fact finding until after resolution of the custody modification" (Declaration of DSHS Social Worker – Trial Exhibit 4). Because the date was approaching, the court elected to wait for the modification proceeding to reach a decision before proceeding further.

On or about January 5, 2015, Respondent retained counsel to represent him in the modification proceeding. (Clerk's Papers, pg. 271). On January 6, 2016, counsel appeared at a pre-trial conference before the trial court and related that there was a "parallel dependency" in the Juvenile Court,

and that the Juvenile Court was "simply waiting on the resolution of this matter in order for them to make a decision about what to do with the dependency". (RP - Vol. IV -Page 9:4 to 9:8).

Appellant also appeared at the said conference, and indicated that she was not represented by counsel. The court acknowledged that she was unrepresented and advised her that she was required to present evidence at trial. (RP - Vol. IV - Pages 7:20 to 8:1).

At trial, Respondent's counsel again represented that there was a "parallel dependency", and indicated that "(t)he Dependency court, for better or for worse, has kicked the can to us to see if we can adjudicate and figure it out." (RP- Vol. I – Trial - Page 12:22 to 12:24). Counsel also made specific reference to "75-day rule" (RCW 13.34.070(1)), which specifically relates to fact-finding hearings in dependency proceedings before the Juvenile Court. (RP – Vol. II – Trial _ Page 37:16 to 37:19). The trial proceeded. Appellant was not appointed counsel despite concurrent jurisdiction, the fact that she had assigned counsel in the dependency matters and the obvious link between the modification and dependency.

During trial, counsel for Respondent called three witnesses: Brian Walton, a social worker with the Department of Social and Health Services, who was assigned to Appellant's two older children; Saeed Hashemi, a social

worker with the Department of Social and Health Services, who was assigned to Appellant's/ Petitioner's five younger children; and Joan Freeman, the Guardian ad Litem in the dependency proceeding.

Appellant attempted to cross examine each, with very little effect. She also attempted to present her own witnesses, who she hoped would testify telephonically. Respondent's counsel objected to such an arrangement. (RP-Vol. I - Trial, Pages 156:6 to 157:12). Appellant's witnesses were therefore not able to testify. (RP - Vol. II - Trial, Pages 4:19 to 5:6).

The trial court subsequently entered an Order modifying the Parenting Plan to the effect that the five younger children were to reside primarily with the Respondent, while the two older children could reside with Appellant if they chose to. (Clerk's Papers, pgs. 297-301). The Court also entered an Order of Child support directing Appellant to pay \$188.00 for each of the five younger children, and \$100 for each of the two older children (in spite of the fact that they were likely to reside with her primarily). (Clerk's Papers, pgs. 308-320).

Appellant filed a timely motion for a new trial (CP, pgs. 347-348). It was denied by Order, dated May 29, 2015. (CP, pg. 349.).

Appellant subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal. (CP, pgs. 352-378).

The Court of Appeals reviewed the matter and ruled on

December 27, 2016 that:

In this case, while Abubakar (Appellant) may have benefitted from appointed counsel during the modification trial, there is no evidence in the record that the juvenile court granted concurrency or intended to use the modification trial for fact-finding in the dependency proceedings. Unfortunately there are no orders from the dependency court in the record. We cannot determine if the modification proceedings were inextricably linked to the dependency proceedings without an order. Because the order is not before us, our analysis necessarily ends.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's Order re Modification/Adjustment of Custody Decree/Parenting Plan/Residential Schedule and Order of Child Support and Parenting Plan.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) there are four criteria considered by the Court in determining whether to accept review or not. It is respectfully argued that subsection (b)(4) applies and specifically this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Petition involves substantial public interest since its presents a critical issue, the determination of which will affect parents, who are involved in parallel dependency and modification proceeds, who cannot

afford counsel. As the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's Orders, the fundamental issue presented to this Court is whether a parent in a modification proceeding in the Superior Court is entitled to appointed counsel, when the Juvenile Court grants concurrent jurisdiction in a parallel dependency proceeding.

Another public interest addressed relates to jurisdiction, and whether the Superior Court may proceed with a modification, when the Juvenile Court's order granting concurrent jurisdiction has not been filed in the Superior Court.

The Court of Appeals misunderstood the jurisdictional issues that existed between the Juvenile Court and Superior Court with respect to the underlying modification. Such misunderstanding led it to conclude that that the Juvenile Court may not have granted concurrent jurisdiction because the record did not include an order to that effect.

Contrary to the Court's conclusion, the Superior Court would have lacked jurisdiction to proceed with the modification unless the Juvenile Court granted concurrent jurisdiction. If the Juvenile Court did not so grant, the Superior Court's final orders would be void.

B. RCW 13.04.030(1)(b) Grants the Juvenile Court Exclusive Original Jurisdiction Over all Proceedings Related to Dependent Children.

RCW 13.04.030(1)(b) sets forth the subject matter over which the Juvenile Court has jurisdiction and the scope of that jurisdiction. It provides as follows

Except as provided in this section, the juvenile courts of this state shall have exclusive original jurisdiction over all proceedings ...

(b) *Relating to children alleged* or found to be dependent as provided in Chapter 26.44 RCW and in RCW 13.34.030 through 13.34.161.

Emphasis added.

An exception to the juvenile court's exclusive jurisdiction is set out in RCW 13.04.030(2) as follows:

(2) The family court shall have concurrent original jurisdiction with the juvenile court over all proceedings under this section if the superior court judges of a county authorize concurrent jurisdiction as provided in RCW 26.12.010.

RCW 26.12.010 sets out the statutory authority of the "family courts", and includes modification proceedings. Therefore, unless concurrent jurisdiction is authorized, the Superior (family) Court lacks jurisdiction over a dependent child.

C. The Court of Appeals Misapprehended the Jurisdictional Rules.

Appellant's primary contention on appeal was that the trial court erred in not assigning her counsel during the modification proceeding. Among other things, Appellant relied on RCW 13.34.090 and Division Two's

holding in *In re Dependency of E.H*, 158 Wn. App 757, 243 P.3d 160 (2010), in support of the proposition that the modification and dependency proceedings were inextricably linked.

As set forth in its decision, the Court elected not to follow through with its analysis regarding the link between the proceedings, inasmuch as the record did not contain any order granting the Superior Court concurrent jurisdiction:

In this case, while Abubakar may have benefitted from appointed counsel during the modification trial, there is no evidence in the record that the juvenile court granted concurrency or intended to use the modification trial for fact-finding in the dependency proceedings. Unfortunately there are no orders from the dependency court in the record. We cannot determine if the modification proceedings were inextricably linked to the dependency proceedings without an order. Because the order is not before us, our analysis necessarily ends.

In casting doubt as to the existence of any order granting concurrent jurisdiction, the Court apparently misapprehended the particular jurisdictional rules regarding a Superior Court's ability to proceed with a modification while a dependency proceeding is pending.

D. The Court did not Need the Juvenile Court's Order Granting Concurrent Jurisdiction in Order to Determine that it Existed.

In spite of its position regarding the lack of an Order in the record, the Court acknowledged the following facts:

During trial, Hassan's counsel stated that "The Dependency Court, for better or for worse, has kicked the can to us to see if we can adjudicate and figure it out." Saeed Hashemi, the DSHS social worker assigned to the five youngest children confirmed in his testimony that hypothetically, if Hassan's petition was granted and he was awarded primary custody of the children with Abubakar as the non-custodial parent, DSHS would dismiss the dependency proceedings.

The Court, however, overlooked the fact that Respondent's attorney specifically referred to Juvenile Court's "75 day rule", RCW 13.34.070(1) which provides in part:

The fact-finding hearing on the petition shall be held no later than seventy-five days after the filing of the petition, unless exceptional reasons for a continuance are found. The party requesting the continuance shall have the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that exceptional circumstances exist. To ensure that the hearing on the petition occurs within the seventy-five day time limit, the court shall schedule and hear the matter on an expedited basis. (emphasis provided).

Division Three faced a nearly identical situation in *Perry v. Perry*, 31 Wn. App 604, 644 P.2d 142 (1982). However, they dealt with the issue quite differently:

Although the parties have not provided us with the record of the dependency proceeding, it is apparent the juvenile court transferred the matter to superior court for determination of the petition to modify so that in the event legal custody were granted to the father, the dependency could be terminated. *Perry*, at 608.

The Court went on to hold that concurrent jurisdiction existed, and that the Superior Court had the authority to proceed with the modification. *Perry*, at 608. Therefore, the Court would have been able to complete its analysis, determine whether the modification and dependency proceeding were inextricably linked, and decide whether Appellant was entitled to assigned counsel pursuant to RCW 13.34.090.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, discretionary review should be accepted as the Petition involves a substantial public interest.