RECEIVED

APR 1 7 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

No. 94275-7

NASRI ABUBAKAR Petitioner, v. ABDIMALIK HASSAN. Respondent. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kelly Vomacka

Attorney for Respondent

Law Office of Kelly Vomacka 600 First Avenue, Suite 304 Seattle, WA 98104 kelly@vomackalaw.com (206) 856-2500 WSBA #20090

ARGUMENT

A. The Petition does not meet any of the criteria for acceptance.

A petition for review can be granted only if it meets any of the following criteria:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). The Petitioner requests review under (4), arguing that the case presents an issue of substantial public interest. But this Petition meets none of these criteria.

1. The Petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide.

The Petition seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), arguing that it involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. The right to counsel is indeed a matter of substantial public interest, but this case is not the right vehicle to decide it.

Any right to counsel must be a matter of substantial public interest, given the importance of counsel in ensuring Due Process and given the prevalence of *pro se* litigants in family-law cases. The question in this case is not the right to counsel *per se*—no one doubts that the Petitioner had the right to hire counsel at any time. The question here is whether Petitioner had a right to *publicly funded* counsel. If Petitioner were to prevail on the merits, the case would likely have a substantial effect on the public fisc, and it would likely invite other appeals seeking counsel in other types of family-law cases or civil cases generally. These are matters of substantial public interest.

But the rule for granting review requires more. It also requires that the issue be one "that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). And this is where the Petition falls short. The Petition relies heavily on an order—the "concurrent jurisdiction" order—that is not in the record. The Petitioner has never explained the absence of this crucial document from the record. Without it, this Court cannot analyze the language in the order, cannot compare its language to that in other cases, and cannot adequately review the issues raised. If this Court is to undertake so important an issue as whether some family-law litigants are entitled to publicly funded counsel, it should wait for a case in which the record is complete. This is not that case.

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with a decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

In addition, the Petition does not cite to any decision of this Court, and no decision of this Court is on point. Therefore, RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) do not apply, nor does Petitioner claim that they apply. The Petition does cite to two Court of Appeals cases, although it does not argue that either case is in conflict with the instant case.

The first is *In re Dependency of E.H.*, 158 Wn. App. 757, 243 P.3d 160 (2010), which the Petitioner relied on heavily in the Court of Appeals. There, the dependency court granted "concurrent jurisdiction" to the family court, and it modified a standard order to expressly give the family court authority over a portion of the dependency:

The juvenile court judge revised the concurrent jurisdiction order, specifying that the family court would also decide the dependency-related permanency planning issue of whether to return EH to one of the parents' homes.

Dependency of E.H., 158 Wn. App. at 760. The dependency court here did not modify the concurrent jurisdiction order or grant express authority over any part of the dependency to the family court. Therefore, because E.H. rests on different facts, it is not on point and not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision here.

The Petition also cites to *Perry v. Perry*, 31 Wn. App. 604, 644 P.2d 142 (1982). There, the juvenile court found the child dependent as to the mother, and then it transferred the case to family court to determine the father's motion to modify the divorce decree. After the family court decided that motion in the father's favor, the dependency was terminated. The case has nothing to say about appointed counsel, and its holding as to the respective jurisdiction of the dependency and family courts says that the family court should normally defer its decision until the dependency matter is determined:

[W]e think the legislature adopted the view in *Walker* [v. Superior Court, 43 Wn.2d 710, 263 P.2d 956 (1953)] and intended to provide that matters of dependency should be handled exclusively and originally by the juvenile court and that the superior court defer determination of custody as between the parents in a dissolution proceeding until the juvenile court has made a determination of the dependency matter.

Perry, 31 Wn. App. at 608. In the instant case, there is no assertion that the family court usurped the role of the dependency court, therefore the instant case has different facts and is not in conflict with *Perry*.

3. The Petition does not involve a significant question of law under either the federal or state constitutions.

Finally, RAP 13.4(b)(3) does not apply because the Petition does not involve a significant question of law under the federal or state

constitutions. The Court of Appeals did not find the issue sufficiently significant to justify publishing its opinion. In addition, in that court, the Petitioner argued primarily on statutory grounds, under RCW 13.34.090. She also raised an issue under Const., article I, section 3. But she presented no analysis under State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986), to support that argument. A Gunwall analysis is required whenever a party argues for an interpretation of the state constitution that is different from the federal constitution. State v. Wheeler, 145 Wn.2d 116, 124, 34 P.3d 799 (2001). It is "a necessary starting point for a discussion between bench and bar about the meaning of a state constitutional provision." Utter, The Practice of Principled Decision-Making in State Constitutionalism: Washington's Experience, 65 Temp. L. Rev. 1153, 1160-63 (1992). Because the Petitioner did not properly brief the constitutional argument, and has not briefed it or relied on it here, this Court should not take review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

4. <u>If this Court does accept review, it should limit review to the issue regarding counsel.</u>

If this Court does accept review, it should limit its review to the question of whether the Petitioner was entitled to publicly funded counsel. It should not accept review on the question of whether the trial

court correctly decided the factual issues, as those issues do not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b).

CONCLUSION

The Petition raises an issue of substantial public interest, but because the record is missing a crucial document, it is not an issue that this Court should decide with this case. Additionally, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals, and the case does not raise a significant question of law under the federal or state constitutions. For all of these reasons, the Respondent respectfully asks this Court deny review.

If the Court does accept review, it should limit review to the issue regarding counsel.

Kelly Vomacka, WSBA #20090 Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

APR 1 7 2017

WASHING: CING ATE SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NASRI ABUBAKAR,

No. 94275-7

Appellant,